1983

The State of Utah v. Jay Richard Newton : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 21, 1960, at approximately 11:30 p.m., a man wearing a bandana entered Gulf Bank Food Fast, located at 1112 South 1900 East, and demanded money from the cashier, Marie Shepard (T. 7-8). Ms. Shepard was shown a photo array some days later and a second photo array one to two weeks after the robbery (T. 11-12). On the second occasion Ms. Shepard identified a photograph of the appellant as the person who had committed the robbery (T. 13-14). A number of previous in-court identifications by Ms. Shepard preceded her in-court identification at trial (T. 11, 30).

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR REFUSING TO GIVE THE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS ON THE NATURE OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE.

The defense raised at trial was that the appellant was not the person who committed the aggravated robbery which was alleged in the Information. The testimony of Ms. Shepard in this particular case left grave doubts about the adequacy of her identification. She characterizes her initial description to the police as "very sketchy" (T. 24). She further says that she did not observe very much and that she was not that well trained in giving descriptions of people (T. 24); could not tell what color the robber's eyes were and she described him as being 5'4" or 5'5" and 140 pounds (T. 27). She later identified the defendant by photographs in open court even though his actual height is 5 inches taller and his weight is 40 pounds heavier than the initial description. The initial identification made of the appellant by Ms. Shepard was from a photograph.

approximately two weeks after the incident. As a part of his motion, appellant requested alternative instructions which would state the nature and dangers inherent in identification testimony, and caution to consider in assessing the value of identification evidence and the burden of proof with respect to the defense.

(S. 40-97)¹

These Instructions provided:

INSTRUCTION NO. _____

One of the most important issues in this case is the identification of the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime. The State has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt. It is not essential that the witness himself be free from doubt as to the correctness of his statement. However, you, the jury, must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the accuracy of the identification of the defendant before you may convict him. If you are not convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the person who committed the crime, you must find the defendant not guilty.

Identification testimony is an expression of belief or impression by the witness. Its value depends on the opportunity the witness had to observe the offender at the time of the offense and to make a reliable identification later.

In appraising the identification testimony of a witness you should consider the following:

1. Are you convinced that the witness had the capacity and an adequate opportunity to observe the offender?

Whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense will be affected by such matters as how long or short a time was available, how far or close the witness was, how good were lighting conditions, whether the witness had had occasion to see or know the person in the past.

(In general, a witness bases any identification he makes on his perception through the use of his senses. Usually the witness identifies an offender by the sense of sight - but this is not necessarily so, and he may use other senses).

2. Are you satisfied that the identification made by the witness subsequent to the offense was the product of his own recollection? You may take into account both the strength of the identification, and the circumstances under which the identification was made.

If the identification by the witness may have been influenced by the circumstances under which the defendant was pre-

(Footnote No. 1 continued)

mented to him for identification, you should scrutinize the identification with great care. You may also consider the length of time that lapsed between the occurrence of the crime and the next opportunity of the witness to see defendant, as a factor bearing on the reliability of the identification.

(You may also take into account that an identification made by picking the defendant out of a group of similar individuals is generally more reliable than one which results from the presentation of the defendant alone to the witness.)

3. (You may take into account any occasions in which the witness failed to make an identification of defendant, or made an identification that was inconsistent with his identification at trial.)

4. Finally, you must consider the credibility of each identification witness in the same way as any other witness, consider whether he is truthful, and consider whether he had the capacity and opportunity to make a reliable observation on the matter covered in his testimony.

The burden of proof on the State extends to every element of the crime charged, and this specifically includes the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime with which he stands charged. If after examining the testimony, you have a reasonable doubt as to the accuracy of the identification, you must find the defendant not guilty. (R 95-96)

INSTRUCTION NO. _____

One of the most important issues of this case is the identification of the defendant, JAY RICHARD NEWTON. The State has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt.

Identification testimony is an expression of belief or impression by the witness. In this case, some of the witnesses have testified that they recognized the defendant as a participant in the crime. You must decide whether there is a reasonable doubt in this identification. In appraising the identification testimony of the witnesses you should consider the following:

1. Did the witnesses have the capacity and opportunity to observe the offender.
2. Is the identification made by the witness a product of his own recollection.
3. Has the witness been consistent in recognizing the defendant as a participant in the offense.

If after considering these factors you have a reasonable doubt as to the accuracy of the identification, you must find the defendant not guilty. (R. 97)

A trial court refused to give the instruction and exception
set forth in the text.

The dangers inherent in eyewitness identification evidence
have been the subject of discussion for many years. In an oft-
quoted passage, the late Felix Frankfurter, former United States
Supreme Court Justice observed:

What is the worth of identification testimony
even when uncontradicted? The identification
of strangers is proverbially untrustworthy.
The hazards of such testimony are established
by a formidable number of instances in the
records of English and American trials. These
instances are recent - - not due to the bru-
talities of ancient criminal procedure. . . .

Evidence as to identity based on personal
impressions, however bona fide, is perhaps
of all classes of evidence the least to be
relied upon, and therefore, unless supported
by other facts, an unsafe basis for the verdict
of a jury. Frankfurter, The Trial of Sacco
and Vanzetti.

The unreliability of eyewitness identification has been
well documented in the literature, and numerous law review
articles have been written on the subject in recent years.²

2. Did Your Eyes Deceive You? Expert Psychological Testimony
on the Unreliability of Eyewitness Identification, 29 Stan.L.
Rev. 969 (1977); Due Process Standards for the Admissibility
of Eyewitness Identification Evidence, 26 Kan. L. Rev. 461 (1978);
Eyewitness Identification Evidence: Flaws and Defenses, 7 No.
Ky. L. Rev. 407 (1980); Ellis, Davies, Shepherd, Experimental
Studies of Face Identification 3 Nat. J. Crim. Def. 219 (1977);
Use of Eyewitness Identification Evidence in Criminal Trials,
1979 Cal. L.Q. 341 (1979); Loftus, Eyewitness Testimony (1979);
Ellis, Defender Sourcebook, pp. 251-57 (S. Singer, ed. 1976);
Loftus, The Psychology of Eyewitness (1979); Buckhout,
Components of Eyewitness Performance on a Lineup, 1974 Bull.
Psychonomic Soc'y 191; Buckhout, Eyewitness Identification and
Psychology in the Courtroom, Crim. Def., Sept. - Oct. 1977,
1977; Buckhout, Eyewitness Testimony, Scientific Am., Dec.
1977 at 21; Ellis, Davies & Shepherd, Experimental Studies of

The commentators note that reasons for this unreliability are found in the problems that are associated with human perception and memory, both of which play a vital role in eyewitness identification. A lengthy discussion of these problems is found in a review article dealing with the problems of perception and memory which are associated with hearsay testimony.² With respect to those issues the author noted:

At a basic level, perception is determined by objective structural factors such as the nature of the stimulus, the impact of the stimulus on the sense organs according to various physical laws, the operation of the afferent neural pathways from the sense organs to the brain, and the cortical projection or reconstruction of the stimulus. However the neurological system operates to transduce physical energy into a sensation, it is clear that interpretation is required to transform sensation into meaning.

* * *

In organizing raw sensory input, the central nervous system is not a photographic recorder. . . . Injury, pathology, drugs, youth, and senility can seriously impair the accuracy of these processes. 1970 Utah Law Rev. at 9.

In United States v. Barber, 412 F.2d 517 (3rd Cir. 1971), the court gave a similar description of the processes involved in human observation, perception and memory. It then went on to state, with respect to eyewitness identification,

2. (continued) Face Identification, Nat'l J. Crim. Def. 219 (1977); Levine & Tapp, The Psychology of Criminal Identification: The Gap from Wade to Kirby, 121 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1079 (1973); Luce, The Neglected Dimension in Eyewitness Identification, Crim. Def., May-June 1977, at 5-8; Tyrrell & Cunningham, Eyewitness Credibility: Adjusting the Sights of the Judiciary, 37 Ala. Law. 563, 575-58 (1976).

3. Stewart, Perception, Memory and Hearsay: A Criticism of Present Law and the Proposed Federal Rules of Evidence, 1970 Utah Law Rev. 1.

Eyewitness identification testimony, therefore, is an expression of a belief or impression by the witness. If there is a high degree of precision and certainty in his expression, and it is consistent with any prior statements and unshaken on cross-examination, the statement of the witness may be regarded as a statement of fact. If certainty is lacking, the expression is deemed to possess an evidentiary quality of inferior rank. Thus, where the circumstances surrounding the criminal act gave limited opportunity for observation or utilization of the sensory perception, or where uncertainty is expressed by the witness himself, or exposed by a past history of the witness' statements or demonstrated by cross-examination, the statement of identity should be considered as only an expression of opinion and should be accompanied by appropriate instructions as to its sufficiency and weight. To be sure, the courts have been generous in the admission of eyewitness identification in order to permit the jury to make its own assessment. The emphasis has been on inclusion of evidence rather than exclusion; on credibility rather than admissibility. [footnotes omitted] 412 F.2d at 527.

In this case, the initial identification was that of the appellant's photograph being picked out of a group of six pictures. This identification did not occur until one to two weeks after the robbery occurred. In Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377 (1968), the United States Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether a photographic array was impermissibly suggestive in violation of the petitioner's right to Due Process of Law. In doing so, the court discussed the dangers associated with the use of photographic identifications, stating,

It must be recognized that improper employment of photographs by police may sometimes cause witnesses to err in identifying criminals. A witness may have obtained only a brief glimpse of a criminal, or may have seen him under poor

conditions. Even if the police subsequently follow the most correct photographic identification procedures and then limit the presentation of a number of individuals without indicating whom they suspect, there is some danger that the witness may make an incorrect identification. This danger will be increased if the police display to the witness only the picture of a single individual who generally resembles the person he saw, or if they show him the pictures of several persons among which the photograph of a single such individual recurs or is in some way emphasized. [footnote omitted] 390 U.S. at 383.

The Supreme Court of Kansas, in State v. Warren, 635 P.2d 1263 (Kan. 1981), discussed these general problems at length which are associated with the use of eyewitness identification evidence. The court then took note of the particular problems that arise in the courtroom with that evidence.

In spite of the great volume of articles on the subject of eyewitness testimony by legal writers and the great deal of scientific research by psychologists in recent years, the courts in this country have been slow to take the problem seriously and, until recently, have not taken effective steps to confront it. The trouble is that many judges have assumed that an "eyeball" witness, who identifies the accused as the criminal, is the most reliable of witnesses, and, if there are any questions about the identification, the jurors, in their wisdom, are fully capable of determining the credibility of the witness without special instructions from the court. Yet cases of mistaken identification are not infrequent and the problem of misidentification has not been alleviated.

We note, for example, a 1979 unreported prosecution in Wilmington, Delaware, against Rev. Bernard T. Pagano, a Roman Catholic priest, accused of robbing six Delaware stores in the winter of 1978. At the trial, he was falsely identified by several state witnesses as the robber. After the State rested its case, the

prosecution was dismissed on motion of the State because another man confessed to the crime. Closer to home is the case of Ronald Quick, who was twice tried and convicted of aggravated robbery of a liquor store in Hutchinson. At both trials two eyewitnesses positively identified defendant as the perpetrator of the crime. These two convictions were reversed for trial error in State v. Quick, 226 Kan. 308, 597 P.2d 1198 (1979) and 229 Kan. 117, 621 P.2d 997 (1981). The case was dismissed by the State during the third trial after another man, who looked like the defendant, confessed to the crime.

The Kansas procedure does provide certain safeguards to prevent the conviction of an innocent accused on the basis of unreliable eyewitness identification. Our trial courts have the power to suppress eyewitness testimony, if the eyewitness identification procedure rendered the testimony unreliable. Cross-examination and argument by defense counsel afford some protection. Unfortunately, these procedures have not solved the problem. Able defense counsel have attempted to combat unreliable eyewitness identification by two additional methods: They have called to the witness stand expert witnesses in the field of psychology to testify as to the various factors which may cause eyewitness identification to be unreliable. They have also requested the trial court to give a cautionary instruction stating the factors to be considered by the jury in weighing the credibility of eyewitness testimony. 635 P.2d at 1241.

In that case, the trial court refused to allow the defense to take either of these actions. Elizabeth Loftus, an expert on eyewitness identification was not allowed to testify and the court refused to give the same or a similar instruction as applied and requested in this case.⁴ After a lengthy discussion of the use of expert testimony to solve the problems associated with the eyewitness testimony the Kansas court stated,

⁴ See footnote 1, supra.

After considering these cases and the literature on the subject, we have concluded that requiring trial courts to admit this type of expert evidence is not the answer to the problem. We believe that the problem can be alleviated by a proper cautionary instruction to the jury which sets forth the factors to be considered in evaluating eyewitness testimony. Such an instruction, coupled with vigorous cross-examination and persuasive argument by defense counsel dealing realistically with the shortcomings should protect the rights of the defendant and at the same time enable the courts to avoid the problems involved in the admission of expert testimony on this subject. 635 P.2d at 1243.

The instruction that the Kansas court held should be given was that framed by the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia in United States v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552 (D.C. Cir., 1972)⁵ The Telfaire court described the need for such an instruction, stating,

The presumption of innocence that safeguards the common law system must be a premise that is realized in instruction and not merely a promise. In pursuance of that objective, we have pointed out the importance of and need for a special instruction on the key issue of identification, which emphasizes to the jury the need for finding that the circumstances of the identification are convincing beyond a reasonable doubt. This need was voiced in 1942 in McKenzie v. United States, [112 F.2d 533] and it has been given vitality in our opinions of recent years - - - following the Supreme Court's 1966 Wade-Gilbert [v. California], 388 U.S. 263, 87 St. Ct. 1951, 18 L.Ed.2d 1178 (1967)] Stovall [v. Denno], 388 U.S. 293] trilogy focusing on the very real danger of mistaken identification as a threat to justice. We refer to our post-Wade opinions in Gregory [v. United States], 459 F.2d 174 (1969). These opinions sought to take into account the traditional

5. This same instruction was cited with approval by Justice Stewart in his dissenting opinion in State v. Malmrose, 649 P.2d 56 at 63 (Utah 1982), and was alternatively requested by appellant in this case.

recognition that identification testimony presents special problems of reliability by stressing the importance of an identification instruction even in cases meeting the constitutional threshold of admissibility. [footnotes omitted] 469 P.2d at 555.

In State v. Warren, supra, the court held that the model instruction from the Telfaire case was more appropriate than a general instruction dealing with an identification defense.⁶ The Kansas court required the Telfaire instruction be given, stating,

4. The general instruction given in that case provided:

INSTRUCTION NO. _____

"It is for you to determine the weight and credit to be given the testimony of each witness. You have a right to use that knowledge and experience which you possess in common with men in general in considering the testimony of each witness. You also may take the following factors into consideration when weighing a witness' testimony:

(a) The witness' ability and opportunity to observe and know the things about which he had testified;

(b) The clarity and accuracy of the witness' memory;

(c) The witness' manner and conduct while testifying;

(d) Any interest the witness may have in the result of the trial;

(e) The reasonableness of the witness' testimony when considered in light of all the evidence in the case; and

(f) Any bias, interest, prejudice or motive the witness may have.

"If you find that any witness has willfully testified falsely concerning any material matter, you have a right to reject the testimony of that witness in other matters, and you may reject all or part of the testimony of that witness, if you may give it such weight as you think it deserves. You should not reject any testimony without cause." 635 P.2d at 411.

. . . we have considered the fact that trial courts are often required to determine the admissibility of eyewitness testimony where issues of unreliability in State of Ponds, 227 Kan. 627, 608 P.2d 241. In listing the unreliability of identification testimony, the five factors mentioned in Neil v. Biggers 409 U.S. 131 (1972) should be considered by the trial court. If these five factors should be considered in determining the admissibility of the testimony, it would seem even more appropriate to require the jury to consider the same factors in weighing the credibility of the eyewitness identification testimony. Otherwise the jury might reasonably conclude that the admission of the evidence by the trial court vouched for its reliability. We think it clear that, in order to prevent potential injustice, some standards must be provided the jury so that the credibility of eyewitness identification testimony can be intelligently and fairly weighed. The giving of such an instruction will take only a couple of minutes in trial time and will be well worth it, if some future injustices can be avoided. 635 P.2d at 1244.
[Emphasis by court]

In Neil v. Biggers, *supra*, the United States Supreme Court was addressing the issue of the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence based on a showup procedure.⁷ In determining the admissibility of the evidence the court initially noted that you must consider the totality of the circumstances. The court then listed several factors to consider, stating,

As indicated by our cases, the factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of mis-identification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. 490 U.S. at 199.

7. That procedure involved two detectives walking the petitioner past a rape victim.

. . . We have considered the fact that trial courts are often required to determine the admissibility of eyewitness testimony where issues of unreliability in State v. Ponds, 227 Kan. 627, 603 P.2d 946, in testing the reliability of identification testimony, the five factors mentioned in Neil v. Biggers [490 U.S. 176 (1979)] should be considered by the trial court. If these five factors should be considered in determining the admissibility of the testimony, it would seem even more appropriate to require the jury to consider the same factors in weighing the credibility of the eyewitness identification testimony. Otherwise the jury might reasonably conclude that the admission of the evidence by the trial court vouched for its reliability. We think it clear that, in order to prevent potential injustice, some standards must be provided the jury so that the credibility of eyewitness identification testimony can be intelligently and fairly weighed. The giving of such an instruction will take only a couple of minutes in trial time and will be well worth it, if some future injustices can be avoided. 635 P.2d at 1244. [Emphasis by court]

In Neil v. Biggers, supra, the United States Supreme Court was addressing the issue of the admissibility of eyewitness identification evidence based on a showup procedure.⁷ In determining the admissibility of the evidence the court initially noted that you must consider the totality of the circumstances. The court then listed several factors to consider, stating,

As indicated by our cases, the factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of mis-identification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. 490 U.S. at 199.

⁷ That procedure involved two detectives walking the petitioner past a rape victim.

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