1983

The State of Utah v. Jay Richard Newton : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS ON THE NATURE OF AND REQUIREMENTS FOR EYEWITNESS IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends that the eyewitness identification provided by Ms. Shepard was inadequate. He complains that her description to the police was sketchy and general; that she was too frightened to direct her attention to the appellant rather than the gun; and that her opportunity to observe the robber was limited. Appellant maintains that the inadequacy of this identification mandated a jury instruction on how to weigh the identification evidence.¹ Appellant claims that if the instruction had been given, there would have been a reasonable likelihood that he would have been acquitted.

Appellant's conclusion, however, is in error in light of the evidence showing that Ms. Shepard had sufficient time to observe appellant during the course of the robbery under excellent lighting conditions (T. 7). Shepard was able to positively identify appellant on several occasions (T. 13, 30). A specific jury instruction on the nature of eyewitness

¹ Appellant requested two special jury instructions, both focusing on essentially the same elements. These instructions were based on instructions suggested by the court in United States v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552 (D.C. Cir. 1972).

identification was therefore not required and was properly denied by the court.

The test for the adequacy of eyewitness identification was explained in Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), and was adopted by this Court in State v. McCumber, Utah 622 P.2d 353 (1980). The Biggers test determines the reliability of the identification by looking at the totality of the circumstances. Factors to consider in this analysis are the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness's degree of attention, the accuracy of any prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated during the identification procedure, and the time between the crime and the identification. When this test is applied to the instant case, it is clear that Ms. Shepard had no trouble in identifying appellant.

Ms. Shepard had ample opportunity to view the criminal at the time of the crime. The store was brightly lit (T. 7) and appellant was the only person in the store besides Ms. Shepard (T. 4), undisturbed by other customers. She stood within an arm's length of appellant (T. 21), and was able to observe him the entire time of the robbery (T. 22). Admittedly, Ms. Shepard was alarmed at the sight of the gun, but she did have an opportunity to observe appellant before he drew the gun (T. 5), and a sufficient time after to closely observe him. Ms. Shepard was therefore able to direct a considerable amount of her attention towards appellant.

Ms. Shepard's description of appellant did vary somewhat with his actual appearance but it was certainly understandable under the circumstances and was not so far removed from actuality to make it unlikely that appellant was the criminal. She described a white male with longish light brown hair, 5'5", and 140 lbs. (T. 26), or about the same height and weight as Ms. Shepard. The record is not clear on this point, although it appears that appellant is slightly taller and heavier than this initial description. On the day of the robbery, however, Ms. Shepard was wearing shoes with heels 2 1/2 - 3" inches high, (T. 32) which would help to explain the possible discrepancy. When Ms. Shepard said he was close to her own height, her height on that day was approximately 5'8" rather than 5'5".

Ms. Shepard's level of certainty is perhaps the most important part of her identification. Ms. Shepard consistently made positive identification of appellant in the photo array, at the preliminary hearing, and in court (T. 30). There was no doubt in her mind that appellant robbed her. Ms. Shepard may have been somewhat inexperienced at verbalizing descriptions since she is not trained in such a skill or used to giving them, but she was certainly able to recognize appellant as the robber of the drugstore.

The length of time between the crime and the photographic array was only a week to two weeks after the robbery (T. 28), a very short period of time.

The Biggers, supra analysis thus leaves no room for doubt that Ms. Shepard could have been mistaken in her identification. There is certainly no serious doubt present in Ms. Shepard's identification of appellant which is the type of case that the Telfaire, supra, instructions contemplated. Therefore, appellant was not entitled to this particular jury instruction. No reasonable doubt as to the credibility of the evidence existed.

Appellant repeatedly makes the point that eyewitness identification may sometimes be inaccurate. There is no doubt that this observation is true, but the fact remains that in this particular case, positive eyewitness identification was made with an absence of any evidence drawing these identifications into serious doubt.

Since there was no significant question about the accuracy of the identification, no special instruction is required. Even the cases that appellant relies on agree with this proposition. United States v. Barber, 412 F.2d 517, 527 (3rd. Cir. 1971) stated that:

If there is a high degree of precision and certainty in his expression, which is consisted with any prior statements and unshaken on cross-examination, the statement of the witness may be regarded as a statement of fact.

Under these circumstances, no identification instruction is required.

The court in State v. Warren, 635 P.2d 1263 (Kan. 1981) held that only where there is a serious question about the reliability of the identification should a cautionary instruction be given advising the jury as to the factors to be considered in weighing the credibility of the eyewitness identification testimony. This point was explained in a later Kansas case, State v. Brown, 638 P.2d 912 (Kan. 1982), where the court held that the eyewitness identification instruction was unnecessary. The court reasoned that even though eyewitness identification was a critical part of the case, there was no serious question about the reliability of the identification.

Appellant quotes United States v. Telfaire, supra, to illustrate the dangers of identification testimony. Yet the instruction given by the trial court in Telfaire was adequate and in no way prejudicial to the defendant. That instruction was similar to the instruction given in the instant case. It emphasized that the government had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant took property with intent to steal; and that defendant was present at the time when, and at the place where, the offense was committed. The government had to prove all the elements. The court said that it was "satisfied that the attention of the jury was significantly focused on the issue of identity." Telfaire at 556. The court also mentioned that the case presented none of the special difficulties often presented by identification

testimony. The same is true of the instant case.

Perhaps the most important reason for dismissing appellant's contention is that the jury instructions that were issued by the trial judge essentially focused on the critical factors contained in appellant's rejected instruction. The jury therefore was adequately instructed on the issue of the robber's identity and Ms. Shepard's credibility as a witness.

The instructions that were given informed the jury that the state had to prove that appellant committed all of the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt (R. 101), that the jury decides the weight of the evidence (R. 105), and that it was not bound to believe what witnesses say (R. 105). The jury was further instructed that in evaluating the credibility of the witnesses that it could consider their deportment, the reasonableness of their statements, their frankness or candor, opportunity to know, ability to understand, and their capacity to remember (R. 106). The jury also was advised in making those determinations that it was to consider all the circumstances. Thus, the jury's attention was significantly directed towards the Telfaire - type of considerations with respect to the issue of the defendant's identity. If the purpose of appellant's requested instructions were adequately covered in the instructions that were actually given, appellant has no cause to complain. This Court in State v. McCumber, Utah, 622 P.2d 353, 359 (1980) made the following statement:

The principal point of defendant's proposed instruction dealt with the state's burden of proof and the factors to be considered in weighing the testimony of the eyewitness. All of the factors were adequately dealt with in other instructions presented to the jury by the trial court. As a result, we cannot agree that the denial of the proposed instruction constituted reversible error.

As appellant pointed out, the McCumber opinion does not disclose which instruction was actually given to the jury, so no direct comparison of the instruction of McCumber can be made with those of the instant case to test for their adequacy. However, another Utah case, State v. Schaffer, Utah, 638 P.2d 1185, 1187 (1981) was more explicit. In Schaffer, defendant wanted the same type of instruction as the appellant wanted in the instant case. In discussing the instructions that were actually given, the Court made this observation:

Here, the jury was instructed that the burden was on the State to prove defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, that they were the exclusive judges of the credibility of the witnesses and that, in order to convict, they must find that defendant committed all of the elements constituting the offense. Taking these instructions as a whole, as is proper . . . we find that they adequately advised the jury on the law pertaining to this case.

In the instant case, these same instructions were given. This leads to the conclusion that, as in Schaffer, the trial court sufficiently advised the jury of both the appropriate law that should apply to the facts of the case and the factors

involved in reviewing the evidence adduced at trial.

Appellant points to the fact that the Telfaire instruction has been adopted in many jurisdictions. This is true, but it is also true that a significant number of state courts follow the rule that a trial court may in its discretion refuse to give a requested instruction when the other instructions given adequately and correctly state the applicable law and alert the jury to its responsibilities as factfinder.

Moreover, whether to give the specific instruction lies within the judge's discretion. State v Malmrose, Utah, 649 P.2d 56 (1982). The discretion was not abused when there was no need for the instructions since they were covered in substance by the instruction given. People v. Estorga, 612 P.2d 520 (Colo. 1980). There were no unusual circumstances in the prosecution that would indicate an abuse of discretion.

The court in State v. Rovles, 598 P.2d 1249, 1252 (Or. App. 1979) made the following statement concerning the discretion which accompanies the giving of eyewitness identification instructions:

"Generally, the decision as to whether to give an instruction on the reliability of eyewitness identification will depend on the trial judge's perception of its desirability in each case. Here it was not an abuse of the trial judge's discretion to refuse to give it. In fact, except in unusual circumstances, it should not be given.

Following the Rovles rationale, there were no unusual

circumstances in the case at bar which compelled the giving a Telfaire instruction.

Appellant contends that this Court has never said the instruction is improper and should never be given. The instructions will not be considered improper if the court below adequately states the law as applied to the case at hand, merely because a requested instruction constitutes a correct statement of the law, does not mean that it should be given. It will do more harm than good if it is redundant. A defendant is not entitled to an instruction which is redundant or repetitive of principles enunciated in other instructions. State v. McCumber, supra. Repetition of instruction under various forms should be discouraged Clews v. People, 377 P.2d 125 (Colo. 1962).

Appellant also maintain that this court has implied that under certain circumstances these instructions would be proper. The only time the giving of the instructions would be proper (and which apparently has yet to occur) would be when no other instructions adequately covering the issue were given.

Appellant further states that he is entitled to have his theory of the case presented to the jury in the form of written instructions. This statement is true. Appellant has nothing to complain of on this coun, however, because the instructions which were issued informed the jury of appellant's theory. This Court in State v. Schaffer, supra,

was confronted with a similar argument. The Court responded thusly:

Defendant also complains of the trial court's failure to give his proposed instruction on identification testimony. Defendant maintains that identification was the only issue in his case, and cites Utah authority to the effect that a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case. Here, the jury was instructed that the burden was on the state to prove defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, that they were the exclusive judges of the credibility of the witnesses, and that, in order to convict, they must find that defendant committed all of the elements constituting the offense. Taking these instructions as a whole, as is proper, we find that they adequately advised the jury on the law pertaining to this case.

The same analysis applies to the instant case.

Furthermore, no prejudicial error occurs if the giving of the requested instruction would not have affected the outcome of the trial, State v. McCumber, supra; State v. Bell, Utah, 563 P.2d 186 (1977). Appellant has not demonstrated that the outcome of the trial would have been different if the instruction had been given. Therefore, even if the instruction should have been given, no reversible error occurred.

CONCLUSION